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-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

RESERVED ON     :  01.02.2023

PRONOUNCED ON : 14.03.2023

__________________________________________________________

This petition  having been heard and reserved for orders,  coming

on for  pronouncement this day,  Hon'ble Shri Justice Dinesh  Kumar

Paliwal, passed the following:  

ORDER 

This  petition  under  Section  80  and  81of  the  Representation  of

Peoples Act, 1951 (for short “the R.P.Act”) has been filed by defeated

candidate with the symbol of hand (Panja) calling in question the election

of  Shri  Rakesh  Giri  (respondent  No.1)  a  returned  candidate  with  the

symbol  of  Lotus  (Kamal)  from constituency  No.43,  Tikamgarh in  the

general election for Madhya Pradesh Legislative Assembly held in the

year 2018.

2. It  is  not  disputed that  in the general  election,  2018 for  Madhya

Pradesh Legislative Assembly, 17 candidates including respondent No.1

Rakesh Giri-  the official  candidate  of  Bhartiya Janata  Party and Shri

Yadvendra Singh- official candidate of Indian National Congress were in

the fray.  The polling was held on 28.11.2018.  Counting of votes took

place on 11.12.2018 and on the same day result was declared in which

Shri Rakesh Giri/respondent No.1 secured 66958 valid votes and he was

declared returned candidate.  His nearest contestant Shri Yadvendra Singh

“Jaggu Bhaiya”/petitioner secured 62783 votes.

3. The petitioner Yadvendra Singh “Jaggu Bhaiya” has challenged the

election of respondent No.1 alleging that during his election campaign, he
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was indulged in corrupt practice within the meaning of section 123(1)(A)

(b) of the Act which constitute under Section 100(1)(b) and 100(1)(d)(iv)

of the Act for declaring his election to be void.  As many as five incidents

of  corrupt  practice  and  one  incident  of  non-publishing  of  criminal

antecedent  in  the  News  paper  as  per  circular  dated  10.10.2018  by

Election Commission of India have been alleged in various paragraphs of

the petition which are summarized as under :-

(A) That wife of respondent No.1 was/ is holding the post of President

of the Municipal Council, Tikamgarh and, therefore, respondent No.1 had

deployed the entire machinery and employees of the Municipal Council

to  facilitate  in  his  election  as  about  150 daily  wages  employees were

deployed for canvassing in favour of respondent No.1 at the dictate of

respondent No.1 and his wife.  One Raviraj Gautam S/o Ramashankar

Singh  R/o  of  Chhatrasal  Colony,  Tikamgarh  on  06.11.2018  and

09.11.2018 at about 2 P.M. had been asked by Pradeep Rajak, Abhishek

Giri and Gajendra Giri Goswami, employees of the Municipal Council,

Tikamgarh to cast his vote in favour of respondent No.1.  The aforesaid

government  employees  were  assigned  election  duty  by  order  dated

5.10.2018 of the Municipal Council, Tikamgarh.   The petitioner had filed

complaints (Annexures A-8 and A-9) on 11.11.2018 and 15.11.2018 with

the Election Commission of India narrating the illegal act of respondent

No.1 and his wife. Cognizance of the complaint was taken by the Election

Commission and all the Municipal employees who were deployed for the

purpose of canvassing in favour of  respondent No.1, were removed from

duty by the Municipal Council, Tikamgarh.  The order dated 16.11.2018

is Annexure A-10 and A-11.
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(B) The  respondent  No.1  indulged  himself  in  funneling  cash,  other

gifts/  handouts  and  liquor  to  the  voters  through  his  influential  local

supporters.   Agents  of  respondent  No.1,  on  his  dictate  and  with  his

consent, bribed voters by giving them cash and other articles like Kambal

and Sarees obtaining a promise to vote for Bhartiya Janta Party. On the

dictate  of  respondent  No.1  and  with  his  consent,  his  agent  namely

Gajendra  Giri  Goswami  came in  a  TATA Safari  SUV and  distributed

Kambal  and Saree at  Village Patha,  District  Tikamgarh on 26.11.2018

between 7 PM to 8 PM to Rajesh Kumar Rai S/o Jairam Rai R/o village

Patha and asked to vote in favour of respondent  No.1 by pressing the

button of  Lotus  in  the  EVM.   The incident  was  witnessed  by Kamal

SinghS/o Babu Raja Thakur, R/o village Jatouwa Khass Patha and Rahul

Mishra  S/o  Late  Shri  Rajendra  Kumar  Mishra.   The  incident  of

distributing  Kambal  and  Sarees  was  videographed  by  Kamal  Singh

through  his  Mobile  Vivo  07  Plus  number  8120051010  (IMEI  1:-

866066036156838,  IMEI   2:-   866066036156820.   The  incident  was

immediately informed to the concerned authorities and election office of

the petitioner by Rahul Mishra and Kamal Singh.  The video recording is

Annexure  A-13  and  the  written  complaint  made  by  Rahul  Mishra  is

Annexure A-14.

(C) That on 25.11.2018, between 7 PM to 9 PM, on the dictate and

with the consent of respondent No.1, his agents, namely Narendra Kumar

Rai  S/o Nathuram and Bhagwan Das Prajapati  @ Banti  S/o Shyamlal

Prajapati R/o Rajkamal Akhara, Tikamgarh who is also working at the

departmental  store,  namely  “Grihasthi”  owned  by  respondent  No.1

distributed a currency note of Rs.2000/- denomination and liquor quarts

in the form of bribe to one Firoz Khan S/o Yusuf Khan R/o of  Ward

No.12, village Badagaon between 7 PM to 9 PM.  The said incident was
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witnessed  by  Dhanendra  Singh  S/o  Kundan  Singh  R/o  Tall  Darwaja,

Tikamgarh.  Dhanendra Singh narrated the said incident of bribery to the

petitioner on 26.11.2018 at his election office.   The voters were bribed to

cast their votes in favour of respondent No.1 candidate of Bhartiya Janata

Party.  On 25.11.2018, during search of a vehicle bearing registration No.

M.P. 36-C-3046 (Maruti Alto Car) owned by Shri Narendra Kumar Rai

who  was  the  agent/  supporter  and  also  the  employee  working  in  the

establishment  run  by  respondent  No.1  in  the  name  of  “Grihasthi”

departmental  store,  Rs.4,70,000/-  cash  was  seized  near  Dhanushdhari

Mandir  Badagaon  Dhasan,  Tikamgarh.  The  cash  seized  belonged  to

respondent No.1 and was being taken to be used at different villages for

the purpose of bribing the voters to cast their votes to respondent No.1.

The  incident  was  witnessed  by  Shri  Rahul  Fanendra  S/o  Ajay  Kant

Fanendra,  agent  of  the  petitioner.   The  said  incident  was  also

videographed  through  Mobile  handset  i.e  MI-Note  4  (IMEI

No.866467034886787  and  866467034886795)  having  mobile  No.

9575131993 and 9131973376 on 25.11.2018.  A copy of seizure memo,

Panchnama and Supurdgi memo are Annexure A-15, A-16 and A-17.

(D) That on 18.11.2018 at 12 noon in utter violation of the mandate of

Section123(3) of the Act, sister of respondent No.1, namely, Kamini Giri

who also happens to be the President of Janpad Panchayat, Tikamgarh,

with the consent of respondent No.1 organized religious feast (Bhandara)

and  openly  appealed  that  she  is  organizing  the  Bhandara  at  the

instructions of respondent No.1 and requested the voters who were the

devotees  of  Temple  Hanumanji  Mandir  situated  at  village  Badagaon

Dhassan to cast their votes to the Bhagwa Party candidate  i.e his brother

by pressing the button of  Lotus.   The  said incident  was  witnesses  by

Jaipal  Singh  S/o  Randheer  Singh  R/o  village  Umari,  Tahsil  Badagon,
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Tikamgarh.   The  said  witness  was  the  supporter  of  the  petitioner,

therefore, on 19.11.2018, he intimated the said fact to the petitioner and

accordingly a complaint was made through election agent in the office of

Returning Officer, Tikamgarh. Kamini  Giri Goswami herself uploaded

the videos of the said (Bhandara) corrupt practice in her facebook profile.

The complaint dated 19.11.2018 is Annexure A-18.

(E) The  EVM  machines  of  polling  booths  No.43-  Tikamgarh,  57-

Tikamgarh,  141-Dharjai,154-Sundarpur,  165-  Pahadi  Tilwaran,  169-

Minora and 182-Ashthoun  Khas were closed before the scheduled time

at the instructions of  respondent No.1 which deprived the voters from

casting their votes in favour of the petitioner.  In this regard pleadings

have been made in para-19,20 and 21 of the petition.

(F) The EVM of booth No.41,49 and 220 were changed at the time of

counting  by  the  Returning  Officer  under  the  influence  of  respondent

No.1.

(G) Against  respondent  No.1  as  many  as  four  criminal  cases  were

pending at the time of filling the nomination form.  However, he has not

taken pain to disclose the fact of criminal cases pending against him by

publishing in the Newspaper as  mandated by law.  Thus,  the returned

candidate has deliberately concealed his criminal record by not disclosing

the criminal cases in the election form and failed to publish the same as

mandated by law.

4. It is averred that the aforesaid acts on the part of respondent No.1

amounts to corrupt practice under various clauses of section 123 of the

Act read with section 100(1)(b) and 100(1)(d)(iv) of  the Act.  Therefore,

the election of returned candidate is liable to be declared void.
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5. The respondent No.1 in his written statement denied that his wife

had deployed the entire machinery and 150 daily rated employees of the

Municipal  Council  to  facilitate  the  election  of  respondent  No.1  and

Bhartiya  Janta  Party.   It  was  also  denied  that  on  06.11.2018  and

09.11.2018 Ravi Raj Gautam of Chhatrasal Colony had been asked by

Pradeep Rajak,  Abhishek Giri  and Gajendra Giri  Goswami to cast  his

vote  in  favour  of  respondent  No.1.   It  was  submitted  that  Ravi  Raj

Gautam is a close relative of petitioner Shri Yadavendra Singh, therefore,

his name is mentioned to cook false ground.  It was submitted that the

duties and work are assigned to the municipal employees by the Chief

Municipal  Officer  and  respondent  No.1  has  no  role  in  assignment  of

duties to the employees. No cause of action of corrupt practice is made

out.  It was denied that all the employees were canvassing at the dictate of

respondent  No.1  and  were  removed  from  the  election  duty.   The

document  Annexure A-12 does not say that employees were canvassing

in favour of respondent No.1.  They were terminated since they were not

discharging  their  duties  effectively.   The  alleged  employees  are  daily

wagers and not government employees.  The alleged photographs have

been  uploaded  from  the  facebook  page  of  Madhur  Agnihotri,  the

photographs are old photographs and were taken prior to election when

respondent No.1 was inspecting the complaints of  citizens of Tikamgarh.

In  these  photographs  no  banner  or  flag  of  party  is  seen.   The  said

photograph is of 19.6.2018 almost five months prior to the election.

6.  Respondent  No.1  has  specifically  denied  about  indulging  in

funneling  cash,  gifts,  handouts  and  liquor  to  the  voters  through   his

influential local supporters.  It was submitted that no Kambal (blankets)

and Sarees were distributed to the voters obtaining a promise to vote for

Bhartiya Janata Party by pressing symbol depicting Lotus. The allegation
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that his agent, namely, Gajendra Giri Goswami came in TATA Safari SUV

and distributed Kambal and Saree at village Patha on 26.11.2018 between

7 PM to 8 PM for securing vote in favour of respondent No.1 is denied.

It is stated that Gajendra Giri was not the agent of respondent No.1 and

he has never consented him to commit any corrupt practice.  No Kambal

and Saree were distributed to Rajesh Kumar Rai R/o village Patha on

26.11.2018.   No  such  incident  had  happened.   The  CD  annexed  as

Annexure A-13 does not support  the aforesaid contents.  A false story is

concocted by the petitioner.  It is specifically denied that Narendra Kumar

Rai and Bhagwandas Prajapti were his agents and were working in the

departmental store of respondent No.1.  It is submitted that a currency

note of Rs.2000/- denomination and liquor quarts in the form of bribe to

the voters of village Badagaon were never distributed with the consent

and on the dictate of respondent No.1.  It is submitted that Bhagwandas

Prajapati himself was an independent candidate from constituency No.43.

He has no concern or relation with Narendra Kumar Rai and Bhagwandas

Prajapati.   The  allegations  of  seizure  of  case  are  against  Bhagwandas

Prajapati  who  himself  was  a  candidate  and  had  committed  corrupt

practice.   Bhagwandas Prajapati  being a  necessary party has not  been

arrayed as respondent and on this ground alone petition  is liable to be

dismissed.

7. It is averred that Narendra Kumar Rai and Bhagwandas Prajapati

had no nexus with respondent No.1 nor they were the agent of respondent

No.1.  He has neither dictated nor consented them to commit any corrupt

practice.  If any money has been seized from these persons, respondent

No.1 cannot be held liable for their act.  It is contended that money seized

from  Narendra  Kumar  and  Bhagwandas  Prajapati  was  found  to  be

genuine and later-on the same was refunded to them which shows that all
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the allegations levelled by the petitioner in the election petition are false

and manufactured. The video recording annexed in support of aforesaid

contention does not support the story of the petitioner.  No cause of action

is disclosed in this regard.

8. It  was submitted that no incident of organizing religious feast on

18.11.2018  had  taken  place  in  Temple  Hanumanji  Mandir  situated  at

village Badagaon Dhasan and no appeal was made to the voters to cast

their  votes to  the Bhagwa party and in favour  of  respondent  No.1 by

pressing the button of Lotus. The document annexed with the petition has

been downloaded by the facebook ID of Ms. Kamini Giri and the title

which  reflects  in  that  photo  is  “Nagar  Panchayat  Badagaon  Mein

Shrimati  Kamini  Giri   Goswami  dwara jansampark  Kiya Gaya Jisme

Janata ka Aseem Ashirwad Sneh prapt Hua aur Mandir  parisr dwara

bhakton ke liye  prasad ka aayojan kiya gaya”. From the photographs it

does not appear that Bhandara was organized by Ms. Kamini Giri.  It was

organized by the Temple Administration.  Kamini Giri was the President

of Janapad Panchayat, therefore, she had visited to attend the Bhandara

organized by the Temple and not for campaigning for respondent No.1.

Respondent No.1 had not directed her to canvass for him nor she was his

election agent.  As both the candidates are Hindu, no question to appeal

for vote on the basis of religion is attracted.

9. It  is  submitted  that  averments  regarding  voting  machine  of

different polling booth mentioned in the table given in the petition from

S.No.1 to 7 were closed before the prescribed time i.e 5.00 P.M. are false

and baseless.  It is contended that voting machine bears only two time i.e

Poll Start Time (PST) and Poll End Time (PET).  The last vote cast by the

voter was prior to 5 P.M., therefore, the aforesaid machines are showing
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the time prior to 5.00 P.M. as the machine shows Poll End Time (PET)

same cannot be termed as the closing time of voting machines.   It  is

further submitted that at the time of closing of EVMs the polling agents

of petitioner and other parties were present  and nobody had taken the

objection about closing of the machine prior to time.

10. Shri  Abhijeet  Agrawal,  District  Returning Officer  did not  direct

closing of the EVM before the prescribed time to extend illegal favour to

respondent No.1.  It is submitted  that polling agent of respondent No.1,

namely, Pappu Lodhi of polling booth No.141, Shri Ramkishan Lodhi of

polling  booth  No.154,  Shri  Pancham Yadav  of  polling  booth  No.165,

never with the consent of respondent No.1 compelled the polling officer

of  said  booths  to  close  down  the  EVM  to  refrain  the  voters  of  the

petitioner from casting their votes.  No such incident had happened.  It is

contended that said issue of constituency No.43 Tikamgarh was taken-up

and  the  Additional  Chief  Electoral  Officer  has  issued  a  letter  bearing

No.15/23/2019 dated 16.04.2019 clarifying the Poll End Time and Poll

Start  Time.   Another  letter  bearing  No.51/8/7/2019-EMPS  dated

23.05.2019 was issued by the Under Secretary, Election Commission of

India stating Poll End Time (PET) indicates the time stamp of last vote

cast and not the time of pressing close button.  It is submitted that since

there is requirement of law that the voters available in the polling station

to cast the vote till 5 P.M. are permitted to cast vote even after 5 P.M.,

therefore, this mechanism is added to the  machine to know when the last

vote was casted. No such complaint was ever made before the Presiding

Officer, Returning Officer, District Electoral Officer or Election Observer

regarding closing of EVM machine before schedule time.  Thus, all the

allegations in this regard are false and frivolous.
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11. It  was  submitted  that  the  allegations  regarding  polling  booth

No.141,154,165,169 and 182 that some of the voters could not cast their

votes in favour of the petitioner on account of closing of EVM machine

prior to schedule time are specifically denied.  The allegations made in

para  22,23,24  and  25  of  the  petition  were  specifically  denied  as  the

petitioner has narrated the facts of  the year 2017, whereas,  M.P. State

Legislative Election, 2018  started from 09.11.2018.  Therefore, same are

of no avail.  All the allegations made against the District Electoral Officer

Cum Collector are false and fictitious as no complaint was ever made by

the petitioner against him.  The Collector is an administrative officer and

he works as a neutral person without taking favour of any candidates.

Petitioner  is  an  Ex-Minister  and,  therefore,  he  wants  to  dominate  the

election machinate and as he  could not dominate him, he made a false

and  frivolous  complaint  to  pressurize  the  election  officer.   All  other

allegations  made  against  the  Returning  officer  have  been  specifically

denied.   Permit  of  the  vehicle  was  issued  as  per  the  direction  of  the

Election  Commission and  all  the  allegations  in  this  regard  have  been

specifically denied.

12. It is submitted that petitioner  had disclosed all the cases pending

against him as per mandate of Supreme Court as well as directions of the

Election  Commission  of  India  in  an  affidavit  filed  by  him alongwith

nomination  form and  also  published  the  details  of  aforesaid  criminal

cases  pending  against  him  as  per  Format-C  in  the  Newspaper.   The

aforesaid  publication  was  made  in  the  daily  issue  of  Lok-Desh

Newspaper dated 19.11.2018, 21.11.2018 and 23.11.2018.  Apart  from

that, pendency of criminal cases was telecast in Sadhna News channel.

After paying the requisite fee to Newspaper as well as Sadhana  Channel

and  the  same  was  informed  to  the  concerned  Election  Officer.   It  is
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submitted that the circular Annexure A-37 dated 10.10.2018 issued by the

Election  Commission  of  India  provides  for  submitting  the  details

regarding publication of criminal  cases in Newspaper and News Channel

in Format C-2 and if any candidate fails to do so, the Returning Officer, is

required  to  give  written  reminder  about  the  directions  for  publishing

declaration about the criminal cases in Format C-3. But no such  reminder

was ever given to the  petitioner as he had published all criminal cases

pending  against  him  and  had  also  submitted  copy  of  newspaper

publication to the Returning Officer.  The pendency of criminal cases was

also informed to the Bhartiya Janata Party through E-mail and later-on

the party had displayed the details of all the candidates having criminal

record in its  official Website including the details of  respondent No.1.

The same is annexed as Annxsure R/1/8.

13. It  was submitted  that  respondent  No.1  did  not  suppress  any

material  fact  and  has  not  violated  any  provision  of  law.   The cases

pending against respondent No.1 at S.No. 2 to 4 in para 35 pertains to the

cases under Municipality Act, 1961 and are not criminal cases.  Petitioner

was not  required to give the description as well as paper publication even

though he  got  published  the  details  of  aforesaid  pending cases  in  the

newspaper and also displayed the same through telecast in Sadhna News

Channel.

14. Respondent No.1 has specifically denied that any EVM machines

was  changed  on  the  dictate  of  respondent  No.1.   It  was  additionally

submitted that the petitioner is lacking the cause of action and it does not

contain any material particulars for the alleged corrupt practices as the

election petitioner has not disclosed specific date, time and name of the

persons involved in the  corrupt practice.  The allegations made in the
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election  petition  are  general  and  vague.  Respondent  No.1  has  not

committed any corrupt practice nor consented with any of his election

agent  to  commit  corrupt  practice.  Since  the  petitioner  has  lost  the

election, therefore, due to his political grudges, he has filed the present

election petition having no substance.  Thus, respondent No.1 has prayed

for dismissal of the election petition with cost.

15. On 22.01.2020, on the basis of pleadings of the parties, following

issues were framed :-

NO                                  ISSUES FINDINGS

1 Whether  the  respondent  No.1/Returned candidate  has

taken  assistance  of  the  employee  of  Municipality,

Tikamgarh  for  canvassing  for  his  election  and  thus

committed corrupt practices ?

Not proved

2 Whether the respondent No.1/Returned candidate/ his

supporters have distributed blankets, sarees and cash to

the  voters  to  caste  vote  in  his  favour  and  thus

committed corrupt practices ?

Not proved

3 Whether  the  respondents  No.2  and  3  under  the

instructions  and  on  behalf  of  respondent

No.1/Returned  Candidate  has  closed  the  polling

(EVMs) of polling booth Nos. 43, 57, 141, 154, 165,

169  and  182  before  the  scheduled  time  with  the

intention to restrain the voters to cast their votes, thus

extended undue favour to the returned candidate and

violated  the  provisions  of  the  Representation  of

Peoples Act, 1951 and rules made thereunder ?

Not proved

4 Whether the respondent No.1/Returned candidate has

deliberately  concealed  his  criminal  record  by  non-

Not proved
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disclosing criminal cases in the election form and also

failed to publish the same mandated by law ?

5 Whether the EVM of booth Nos. 41, 49 and 220 were

changed  at  the  time  of  counting,  thereby  materially

affected the election ?

Not proved

6 Whether  the  aforesaid  conduct  on  the  part  of

respondent  No.1/his  electoral  agents/his  supporters

falls  under  the  provisions  of  corrupt  practice  and

therefore liable to be set aside ?

Not proved

7 Relief and costs ? Petition  dismissed.
Parties to bear their
own costs.

ISSUE NO. 1 

16. It is averred in para 10 to 13 of the Election petition that as many

as 150 daily wages employees of Municipal  Council,  Tikamgarh were

engaged for  canvassing in favour of respondent No.1 at the dictate of

respondent No.1  as his wife was holding the post of President, Municipal

Council, Tikamgarh.  It is further alleged that employees of Municipal

Council namely Pradeep Rajak, Abhishek Giri, Gajendra Giri Goswami

had  asked  some  of  the  voters,  particularly  to  Raviraj  Gautam  S/o

Ramashankar  Singh on 06.11.2018 and 09.11.2018 to cast  his  vote  in

favour  of  respondent  No.1.   It  is  further  alleged  that  complaint  was

instituted on 11.11.2018 and 15.11.2018 with the Election Commission of

India  narrating  the  illegal  act  of  respondent  No.1  and  his  wife.

Cognizance was taken by the Election Commission and employees who

were  canvassing  in  favour  of  respondent  No.1  were  removed  from

election duties.
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17. The petitioner in order to prove his case, as regards issue No.1 has

adduced evidence of Yadvendra Singh (PW-1) and Raviraj Singh (PW-2)

and has relied on Exhibit P/1. 

18.  Yadvendra Singh (PW-1) has deposed that at the time of election

Laxmi Giri, wife of returned candidate/respondent No.1 was the President

of Municipal Council, Tikamgarh.  On 06.11.2018 and 09.11.2018 at the

dictate of Rakesh Giri one meeting of the 150 daily wages employees was

called and in it Gajendra Giri and Abhishek Giri had told employees that

they have been employed by Laxmi Giri, if Yadvendra Singh wins the

election  then  they  will  be  removed  from the  services.   It  is  also  his

evidence  that  he  had made complaint  Exhibit  P/1.   In  para 26 of  his

evidence  Yadvendra  Singh  has  admitted  that  he  had  made  complaint

Exhibit P/1 on 11.11.2018 and in it, it is mentioned that Gajendra Giri and

Hari  Giri  along  with  Municipal  Council  President  Laxmi  Giri  have

canvassed at Ward No.4, Taal Darwaja.  He has admitted that last date for

scrutiny  of  the  nomination  paper  was  12.11.2018  and  last  date  for

withdrawal of nomination was 14.11.2018.  He has denied the suggestion

offered  by  learned  counsel  for  respondent  No.1  that  daily  wages

employees are not the government employees.  He has admitted that he

had made complaint only against two employees. He has admitted that in

his petition it is nowhere mentioned that on 10.11.2018 two daily wages

employees were canvassing for Rakesh Giri.  He has further admitted that

in his petition he has not given details of all  150 employees who had

canvassed for respondent No.1.  As far as truthfulness and reliability of

the evidence of Yadvendra Singh (PW-1) is concerned, he is a hearsay

witness  as  his  source  of  giving  such  information  is  Raviraj  Singh

Gautam.   Yadvendra  Singh  (PW-1)  had  not  seen  any  daily  wages
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employee of  Municipal  Council,  Tikamgarh canvassing for  respondent

No.1.  

19. Raviraj Singh Gautam (PW-2) has deposed that he is resident of

Chhatarsal Colony.  On 06.11.2018 and 09.11.2018 at around 2:00-2:30

PM Pradeep Rajak, Abhishek Giri, Gajendra Giri Goswami reached in his

colony and asked the people that they have been sent by Rakesh Giri and

requested to cast their vote in favour of Rakesh Giri for development of

the colony. He further  stated that  on 09.11.2018, he had informed the

same to Yadvendra Singh. In cross-examination, this witness has admitted

that  in  his  Adhar  Card,  his  name  is  not  mentioned  as  Raviraj  Singh

Gautam and his address is mentioned as Baikunth Krishi Colony.  This

witness  further  admitted  that  he  had  not  made  any  complaint  against

Pradeep Rajak, Abhishek Giri and Gajendra Giri Goswami about making

appeal to residents of colony to cast their vote in favour of Rakesh Giri.

As far as the evidence of Raviraj Singh Gautam (PW-2) is concerned, his

evidence does not inspire confidence as he is not Raviraj Singh Gautam.

As per his own admission in his Adhar Card, his name is not mentioned

as Raviraj Singh Gautam and his address is mentioned as R/o Baikunthi

Krishi  colony  and  not  that  of  Chhatarsal  colony  whereas  as  per  the

evidence of Yadvendra Singh (PW-1) and as per the averments made in

the election petition Raviraj Gautam, S/o Ramashankar Singh Gautam,

R/o Chhatarsal Colony, Tikamgarh along with other residents of colony

was asked by the employees of Municipal Council to cast their vote in

favour of respondent No.1. As petitioner has not adduced Raviraj Singh

Gautam, R/o Chhatarsal Colony as witness, no reliance can be placed on

the evidence of Raviraj Singh (PW-2). Likewise no reliance can be placed

on  the  uncorroborated  hearsay  evidence  of  Yadvendra  Singh  (PW-1).

Thus,  it  is  concluded that  petitioner  by producing cogent  and reliable
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evidence could not prove that any employee of the Municipal Council,

Tikamgarh had canvassed on 06.11.2018 and 09.11.2018 for the returned

candidate in Chhatarsal Colony, Tikamgarh and had appealed residents of

colony to cast their vote in his favour. 

20. Exhibit P/1 is an application made to District Returning Officer by

petitioner Yadvendra Singh on 11.11.2018 and in this application Exhibit

P/1, it is alleged that Gajendra Giri and Hari Giri had canvassed along

with Laxmi Giri in Ward No.4 on 10.11.2018 and a photo of the same

was taken, but no such photograph was produced in the evidence. It also

cannot be overlooked that as per complaint Exhibit P/1 canvassing was

made on 10.11.2018, while as per the evidence of Yadvendra Singh (PW-

1) and Raviraj Singh (PW-2) canvassing was made on 06.11.2018.  Thus,

it is clear that evidence of Yadvendra Singh (PW-1) and Raviraj Singh

(PW-2) does not match with the date mentioned in Exhibit P/1.  Hence,

no reliance can be placed on their evidence. There is material discrepancy

in testimonies of Yadvendra Singh (PW-1) and Raviraj Singh (PW-2) and

alleged complaint Exhibit P/1 as regards the date of canvassing.  Raviraj

Singh Gautam, S/o Ramashankar Singh, R/o Chhatarsal Krashi Colony

has not been produced for evidence as Raviraj Singh (PW-2) who has

been  adduced  in  evidence  is  the  resident  of  Baikunth  Krashi  Colony,

Tikamgarh and not the resident of Chhatarsal  Krashi Colony. Thus, from

the  evidence  on  record,  it  is  not  found  proved  that  on  06.11.2018  at

around 4:00 PM daily wages employees namely Pradeep Rajak, Abhishek

Giri and Gajendra Giri Goswami along with Laxmi Giri had canvassed

for respondent No.1 in Taal Darwaja, Ward No.4 and had asked voters

particularly  Raviraj  Singh  Gautam to  cast  vote  in  favour  of  returned

candidate respondent No.1.

21. Issue No.1 is decided accordingly.
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ISSUE NOs. 2 and 6 

22. These issues relate to corrupt practice and the averments in this

regard are contained in para 14, 15, 16 and 17 of the Election Petition and

it is alleged that respondent No.1, returned candidate and his supporters

had distributed Blankets, Sarees and Cash to the voters to cast their votes

in favour of returned candidate.  In the aforementioned paragraphs details

with date, time and name of the persons who distributed Blankets, Sarees

and Cash at dictate and direction of respondent No.1 to allure the voters

to cast their votes in favour of returned candidate have been mentioned.

23. Yadvendra  Singh  (PW-1)  in  his  evidence  deposed  that  on

25.11.2018 Narendra Rai, Bhagwandas Prajapati and Sanjay Gupta had

distributed  cash  near  Dhanushdhari  Temple  at  Village  Dhasan  and  a

currency  note of  Rs.2000/- was given to Firoj Khan and he was asked to

cast his vote in favour of respondent No.1.  It is also his evidence that on

26.11.2018 Gajendra Giri along with other persons who are daily wages

employees distributed Blanket, Sarees and Cash.  The act of distribution

of aforesaid articles was videographed by Kamal Singh and complaint

was made by Rahul  Mishra.   Blankets  and Sarees were seized by the

Police. In para 28 of his cross-examination, Yadvendra Singh (PW-1) has

admitted  that  he  has  not  given  any  proof  regarding  organizing  of

Bhandara (religious feast) by Kamini Giri.  He further admitted that he

has made no pleading regarding distribution of Sarees and clothes in the

Bhandara.  He further admitted  that in  page 18 of his petition  he has not
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mentioned the name of Rakesh Giri and has simply mentioned that voters

were asked to cast their votes in favour of Bhagwa Party.

24. In para 29 of cross examination, he has admitted that in his petition

he has made no pleading about making oral complaint on telephone.  He

has admitted that in election Bhagwandas was one of the candidates. He

admitted  that  he  has  no  knowledge  if  Bhagwandas  Prajapati,  S/o

Shyamlal and Bhagwandas whose name is mentioned in para 4 of the

petition are same person.  He admitted that he has no knowledge if money

seized  by  the  Police  belonged  to  Bhagwandas  Prajapati  and  he  was

distributing the same along with Narendra Rai. He admitted that cash and

vehicle were seized from Narendra Kumar Rai.  He admitted that he has

not mentioned the name of Sanjay Gupta in his petition and made no

complaint against Bhagwandas Prajapati  or Narendra Rai. He admitted

that he had not asked Firoz Khan to make complaint about receiving of

money.  He admitted that in his petition he has nowhere mentioned that

Sanjay  Gutpa  is  the  brother-in-law of  Uma Gupta/wife  of  the  Rakesh

Gupta, partner in  firm named  “Grashthi”. He has further admitted that

Rahul Mishra had made complaint on phone only and he had not made

any complaint in writing. In so far as  the reliability of the evidence of

Yadvendra Singh (PW1) is concerned, he is not an eye witness of the

aforesaid  incidents.  He  is  merely  a  hearsay  witness.   Therefore,  no

reliance can be placed on his hearsay evidence.

25. As  far  as  the  evidence  regarding  organization  of  Bhandara  at

Hanumanji  temple by Kamini Giri  is  concerned,  Jaipal  Singh Bundela

(PW-6)  has  deposed  that  on  18.11.2018,  he  had  gone  for  Darshan  at

Hanumanji Temple, Badagaon, there a Bhandara was going on. Kamini

Giri was distributing meal and prasad and was appealing to the devoters

cast their vote in favour of Rakesh Giri and Bhagwa Party.  According to
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him on 19.11.2018 he had informed the same to Yadvendra Ji.  In  cross-

examination, this witness Jaipal Singh (PW6) has admitted that he is not

resident of Badagaon. He is resident of Village Umri which is almost 9-

10 km away from Badagaon.  He  further admitted that he cannot say as

to who had organized the Bhandara.  He stated  that Kamini Giri was

there.  He admitted that regarding Bhandara, he had made no  complaint

to Badagaon Police and election office.  He has clearly admitted that he is

an Indian National Congress Worker. He has stated that he had made no

complaint  to  anyone  except  Yadvendra  Singh.  The evidence  of  Jaipal

Singh Bundela (PW-6) is not supported by evidence of any other person

belonging  to  Badagaon.   No  cogent  and  reliable  proof  except  oral

evidence of Jaipal Singh Bundela (PW-6) has been furnished to prove the

factum of organization of Bhandara by Kamini Giri.   The evidence of

Jaipal Singh Bundela (PW6) is vague and general in nature. He is worker

of Indian National Congress party. Therefore, in absence of any cogent

and reliable  evidence  in  this  regard  no reliance  can be  placed  on his

evidence as he is an interested witness.

26. In so far as the allegation of distribution of Blankets and Sarees at

Village Patha, by Gajendra Giri Goswami in Tata Safari SUV vehicle on

26.11.2018 between 7-8 PM is concerned, the petitioner has not produced

any documentary or oral evidence to prove that Gajendra Giri Goswami

was the agent of returned candidate.  In this regard evidence of Rahul

Mishra (PW-5) has been adduced. He has deposed that on 26.11.2018 he

in  the vehicle  of  independent  candidate  Ajay Pratap  Singh was going

towards  Badagaon to  Tikamgarh.  In  Tata  Safari  vehicle  three  piles  of

blankets  were  found  kept  on  the  rear  door  of  the  vehicle  and  same

blankets were being distributed by Gajendra Giri and he was telling to the

people that these blankets have been sent by Rakesh Giri and you have to
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cast your vote in favour of Bhartiya Janta Party.  When he made a call to

the Police Gajendra Giri along with Tata Safari vehicle left the village.

Further  he could not  take the blankets  piles  with him and same were

seized by the Police Tikamgarh. He had made complaint to the Election

Commission.  

27. In his cross-examination, Rahul Mishra has stated that he had not

seen registration number  of  the Tata  Safari  vehicle  by which blankets

were  being  distributed.   It  is  surprising  that  this  witness  had  seen

Gajendra  Giri,  Tata  Safari  Vehicle,  blanket  piles  but  could  not  see

registration number of the vehicle. No other witness has supported the

evidence of this witness Rahul Mishra. In his cross-examination, Rahul

Mishra has admitted that he had given oral information to the Police and

written complaint was made by him. This witness Rahul in para 2 of his

cross-examination stated that he had left his complaint on the desk of the

Election Officer. The petitioner has not filed copy of any such written

complaint made by Rahul Mishra. This witness has admitted that he is

Xth  pass  and  knows  how  to  send  E-Mail  but  he  had  not  made  any

complaint to Election Commission through E-Mail. He has admitted that

he  had  informed Yadvendra  Singh  about  distribution  of  Blankets  and

Sarees by Gajendra Giri after a long gap of declaration of the final result

of elections. This witness Rahul Mishra in para 3 of evidence stated that

he  had  given  a  copy  of  the  complaint  made  by  him  to  Election

Commission to Yadvendra Singh. It is noteworthy that no such complaint

has been filed with the petition by petitioner Yadvendra Singh.

28. Rahul Mishra (PW-5) has admitted that he had not prepared any

video of Gajendra Giri Goswami distributing blankets and sarees. When

Exhibit D/I document was shown to him, he has admitted that in Exhibit

D/1 name of Gajendra Giri is not mentioned and it has not proved that it
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was given to the Returning Officer. Rahul Mishra (PW-5) is an unreliable

witness as his evidence does not find corroboration from the evidence of

any other witness. It is worth mentioning that in para 14 of the election

petition, it has been specifically pleaded that Blankets and Sarees were

distributed  to  Rajesh  Kumar  Rai,  S/o  Jayram Rai,  resident  of  Village

Patha,  Tehsil  and  District  Tikamgarh  and  incident  was  witnessed  by

Kamal  Singh,  S/o  Babu  Raja  Thakur  and  he  had  videographed  the

incident through his mobile, but aforesaid witnesses Rajesh Kumar Rai

and Kamal Singh were not produced in evidence by the petitioner. Thus,

petitioner has utterly failed to prove the fact that Blankets or Sarees were

distributed by Gajendra Giri to Rajesh Kumar Rai or any other voters of

Village  Patha  and  they  were  asked  to  cast  their  votes  in  favour  of

respondent No.1 or Bhagwa Party.

29. In this case petitioner has not only failed to examine Kamal Singh,

S/o Babu Raja Thakur but has also failed to produce any videography of

the incident  of  distribution of  Sarees or  Blankets  by Gajendra Giri  at

village Patha. On a perusal of Exhibit D/1, it is apparent that name of

Gajendra Giri is not mentioned in it and it does not bear seal or signature

of the office of Returning Officer. Thus, no reliance can be placed on the

false and unbelievable evidence of Rahul Mishra (PW-5).

30. In  para  15 to  17 of  the  Election  Petition,  averments  have  been

made that on 25.11.2018 between 7:00 to 9:00 PM on the dictate and with

the consent of respondent No.1 his agent namely Narendra Kumar Rai

and Bhagwandas Prajapti @ Banti who also works in the Departmental

Store namely ‘Grashthi’ owned by respondent No.1 distributed Rs.2000/-

denomination note as a bribe to the voters of Village Badagaon, Dhasan.

They had distributed a currency note of Rs.2,000/- denomination to one

Firoz Khan, resident of Ward No.12, Badagaon Dhasan between 7 to 9
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PM in Badagaon and said incident was witnessed by Dhanendra Singh,

S/o  Kundan  Singh  who  had  narrated  such  incident  of  bribery  to  the

petitioner  on  26.11.2018.  It  is  also  averred  that  on  25.11.2018 during

search  of  Maruti  Alto  car  bearing  registration  No.  MP-36-C-3046

belonging to Narendra Kumar Rai, an amount of Rs.4,70,000/- was seized

near Dhanushdhari Temple, Badagaon Dhasan, Tikamgarh. In this regard,

the evidence of Yadvendra Singh (PW-1) is evidence of a hearsay witness

as he had not seen anyone distributing the currency note to Firoz Khan.

31. Firoz Khan (PW3), in his evidence, has deposed that on 25.11.2018

between 8 to 9 PM he was going towards his house from Dhanushdhari

chouraha, there a mob of 10-15 people was standing. He had seen three

persons traveling in a vehicle. Out of these three persons, one came near

him and asked him to receive Rs.2,000/- denomination currency note and

said that same is being given by Rakesh Giri and you have to cast your in

favour of Bhartiya Janta Party, that time his friend Dhanendra Singh was

also present there. In the meantime, Police reached there, due to which

they left the place without narrating anything to anyone. The evidence of

Firoz Khan (PW-3) finds corroboration from the evidence of Dhanendra

Singh (PW-4). Dhanendra Singh (PW-4) has deposed that three persons

had given some money to his friend Firoz Khan and had stated that this

money has been sent from BJP candidate Rakesh Giri and you have to

vote for him. Hearing Police siren Firoz Khan came to him and asked him

about the persons who had given money. He had informed him that these

persons  were  Narendra Kumar  Rai,  Bhagwandas  Prajapati  and Sanjay

Gupta of Tikamgarh. In his cross-examination, Firoz Khan (PW-3) has

admitted that the person who had given him money had not enquired him

about his being voter of Tikamgarh Assembly Seat. He has admitted that

he had received the money. He further stated that he had left the place
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because Police has reached there. He has admitted that he had not made

any complaint to the Police or any other authority about distribution of

money in election. 

32. In cross-examination, Firoz Khan (PW-3) has clearly admitted that

Dhanendra  Singh  and  Yadvendra  Singh  both  are  the  resident  of  Taal

Darwaja, Tikamgarh. Dhanendra Singh (PW-4) in his cross-examination

has stated that petitioner Yadvendra Singh is not his relative, though they

both  are  from Bundela  community.  He  has  stated  that  on  the  day  of

incident,  he was returning from his wife's  house at  Karitola village in

Uttar Pradesh. He has admitted that place of alleged incident Badagaon

Dhasan was not on his way back to home. He has admitted that Firoz

Khan is his old friend. This witness has stated that he and Firoz Khan

both had not made any complaint to the District Election Officer about

distribution of money on behalf of returned candidate. He has stated that

factum of distribution of money, is being disclosed by him for the very

first  time  before  the  Court.  He  has  admitted  that  he  was  asked  by

petitioner Yadvendra Singh to depose the same in Court. In so far as the

veracity of evidence of Firoz Khan (PW-3) and Dhanendra Singh (PW-4)

is concerned same does not inspire confidence as they did not make any

complaint to Police/Returning Officer and Election Commission of India

about distribution of currency note of Rs.2,000/- denomination by any

person at behest of respondent No.1. Hence, so for as the evidence of

Firoz  Khan  (PW-3)  and  Dhanendra  Singh  (PW-4)  is  concerned,  same

does not appear truthful.  It is worthwhile to mention here that Dhanendra

Singh  (PW-4)  and  petitioner  both  are  from same  community  and  are

resident of same Mohalla in Tikamgarh.

33. It is pertinent to mention here that Village Badagaon Dhasan where

alleged incident of distribution of currency money is stated to have taken
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place was not on Dhanendra Singh’s (PW-4) way back to home from his

wife's house at village Karitola in Uttar Pradesh. Dhanendra Singh (PW-

4) has not offered any satisfactory clarification as to how he reached at

village  Badagaon  Dhasan  which  is  situated  on  Damoh  -  Tikamgarh

highway. Thus, Firoz Khan (PW-3) and Dhanendra Singh (PW-4) appears

to be manufactured witnesses. The testimony of Firoz Khan (PW-3) and

Dhanendra Singh (PW-4) does not find corroboration from evidence of

any other independent witness, while according to them 10-15 persons

were present on the spot at the time of distribution of money, but none of

these persons have been named in the petition and none of these persons

were produced before Court as witnesses. There are material discrepancy

in the testimony of Firoz Khan (PW-3) and Dhanendra Singh (PW-4) as

regards the persons to whom currency notes were distributed by Narendra

Kumar Rai and Bhagwandas Prajapti. It is not the evidence of Dhanendra

Singh (PW-4) that he too was offered any money by those persons for

casting  his  vote  in  favour  of  Bhagwa  Party.  Firoz  Khan  (PW-3)  and

Dhanendra  Singh  (PW-4)  have  not  disclosed  the  name  of  any  other

persons to whom currency notes were distributed and were asked to cast

their votes in favour of respondent No.1. Therefore, their bald and general

statement  that  three  persons  gave  a  currency  note  of  Rs.2,000/-

denomination to Firoz Khan being bereft of  specific details carries no

credibility,  particularly in  the  background of  their  testimony that  only

Firoz  Khan  was  recipient  of  currency  note.  The  petitioner  has  not

produced any other  person who can  testify  that  he  too  was  offered  a

currency note of Rs.2,000/- by three persons to cast his vote in favour of

respondent No.1 Rakesh Giri and Bhagwa Party. 

34. Thus, the testimony of Firoz Khan (PW3) and Dhanendra Singh

alleged recipient of currency note and Dhanendra Singh (PW-4) so called
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eye  witness  who  is  resident  of  the  petitioner's  mohalla  is  not  at  all

inspiring because it suffers from a number of improbabilities, infirmities

and anomalies which makes the same unbelievable and unreliable. Hence,

same cannot be relied upon.

35. In  para  28,  29  and  30,  petitioner  has  made  allegations  against

respondent  No.2  Abhijeet  Agrawal,  District  Electoral  Officer-cum-

Collector  about  deleting  his  and  his  family  members’ name from the

Electoral  Roll  of  the  Legislative  Assembly  Constituency  No.43,

Tikamgarh dated 31.07.2018, though earlier their names were shown in

the voter list published on 19.01.2018.  It is averred that after making a

complaint  by  the  petitioner  the  name of  the  petitioner  and his  family

members were included in the Electoral Rolls at Serial No.833, 834 and

835 in the voter list dated 27.09.2018.  

36. Yadvendra Singh (PW-1) in para 10, 11, 12 and 13 of his evidence

has  deposed  that  since  03.10.2017  and  onwards  Collector  Abhijeet

Agrawal was prejudiced with him and owing to that his and his family

members names were deleted from the voter list. In para 33 of his cross-

examination,  he  has  admitted  that  voter  list  is  revised  in  every  six

months.  His name is published in voter list dated 19.01.2018.  He further

admitted that his name was not published in voter list dated 21.07.2018

but was published in voter list dated 27.09.2018.  He has admitted that he

has not produced any copy of the complaint submitted by him to the State

Election Commission.  

37. As far the allegations of the petitioner about deleting of his name

from voter list dated 21.07.2018 are concerned, same are not material as

in the voter list which was published on 27.09.2018 his and his family

members names were found included.  The aforesaid incident has taken

place before commencement of election process.  Therefore, only on the
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basis that names of petitioner and his family members were not published

in voter list dated 21.07.2018, it cannot be inferred that District Returning

Officer/Collector was having prejudices against the petitioner and he in

any way materially affected the election process.  

38. No other cogent and reliable evidence has been produced to prove

that  Collector/Returning  Officer  Abhijeet  Agrawal  during  election

process did anything against the petitioner which materially affected the

election  process.  Therefore,  in  this  regard,  no  force  is  found  in  the

argument advanced by learned counsel for the petitioner.

39. The law is well settled that the allegation with regard to corrupt

practice  is  a  serious  allegation  and  the  standard  of  proof  is  akin  to

criminal  charge  where  allegations  are  required  to  be  proved  beyond

reasonable doubt. Nature and scope of the jurisdiction of this Court while

trying the election petition based on corrupt practice as  defined under

Section  123 of  the R.P.  Act  has  been reiterated  by Supreme Court  in

number of case laws. 

40. In the case of  Ch. Razik Ram Vs. Ch. Jaswant Singh Chouhan,

(1975) 4 SCC 769: AIR 1975 SC 667 the Hon'ble Apex Court laid down

the following principles:

"Before  considering  as  to  whether  the  charges  of
corrupt practice were established, it is important to
remember  the  standard  of  proof  equired  in  such
cases.  It  is  well  settled  that  a  charge  of  corrupt
practice  is  substantially  akin to  a criminal  charge.
The commission of a corrupt practice entails serious
penal consequences. It not only vitiates the election
of the candidate concerned but also disqualifies him
from taking, part in elections for a considerably long
time. Thus, the trial of an election petition being in
the  nature  of  an  accusation,  bearing  the  indelible
stamp of quasi-criminal action, the standard of proof
is the same as in a criminal trial.
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Secondly, even if the nature of the trial of an election
petition is not the same in all respects as that of a
criminal trial, the burden of proving each and every
ingredient  of  the  charge  in  an  election  petition
remains on the  petitioner.  If  a  fact  constituting or
relevant  to  such  an  ingredient  is  pre-eminently
within the knowledge of the respondent, it may affect
the  quantum  of  its  proof  but  does  not  relieve  the
petitioner of his primary burden."

41. In  the  case  of  Sultan  Salahuddin  Owasi  V.  Mohd.  Osman

Shaheed & Ors.(AIR 1980 SC 1347,  the Hon'ble  Supreme Court  has

observed thus:-

"It  is  now  well  settled  by  a  large  catena  of  the
authorities  of  this  Court  that  a  charge  of  corrupt
practice must be proved to the hilt,  the standard of
proof  of  such allegations the  same as  a charge  of
fraud in a criminal case."

42. Similar view has been expressed by the Hon'ble Supreme Court in

the case of N.C.Zeliang Vs. Aju Newmal and others, AIR 1981 SC 8 that

a charge under section 123 of the R.P. Act must be proved by clear and

cogent  evidence as a charge for  criminal  offence.  A charge of  corrupt

practice  cannot  be  proved  by  preponderance  of  probabilities  but,  the

Court  is  required to  satisfy that  there  is  evidence to prove the charge

beyond  reasonable  doubt.  The  election  process  in  our  country  is  an

extremely expensive and while declaring the election of a candidate mull

and  void,  the  entire  process  of  election  is  set  at  naught  resulting  in

reelection.  Therefore,  such a course should be adopted only when the

allegations of corrupt practice are proved beyond reasonable doubt.

43. In Ram Sharan Yadav v. Thakur Muneshwar Nath Singh & Ors.

[1984] 4 S.C.C. 649, the Hon'ble Supreme Court has observed thus:

"The sum and substance of these decisions is that a
charge  of  corrupt  practice  has  to  be  proved  by
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convincing evidence and not merely by preponderance
of probabilities. As the charge of a corrupt practice is
in the nature of a criminal charge, it is for the party
who sets up the plea of 'undue influence' to prove it to
the hilt beyond reasonable doubt and the manner of
proof  should  be  the  same  as  for  an  offence  in  a
criminal  case.  This  is  more  so  because  once  it  is
proved to the satisfaction of a court that a candidate
has been guilty of 'undue influence' then he is likely
to be disqualified for  a period of  six  years  or  such
other period as the authority concerned under Section
8-A of the Act may think fit.

By  and  large,  the  Court  in  such  cases  while
appreciating or analysing the evidence must be guided
by  the  following  considerations:  (1)  the  nature,
character,  respectability  and  credibility  of  the
evidence,

(2)  the  surrounding  circumstances  and  the
improbability appearing in the case,
(3)  the  slowness  of  the  appellate  court  to  disturb  a
finding of fact arrived at by the trial court who had
the  initial  advantage  of  observing  the  behaviour,
character and demeanor of the witnesses  appearing
before it, and (4) the totality of the effect of the entire
evidence which leaves a lasting impression regarding
the corrupt practices alleged"

44. In the case  of  PC. Thomas Vs.  Adv.  P.  M.  Ismail,  reported  in

(2009)10 SCC 239 Hon'ble Apex Court observed as under:

"Before we proceed to examine the evidence of
the case to consider the question as to whether
charges  of  corrupt  practice  were  established
against  the  appellant,  we  deem it  necessary  to
reiterate  that  a  charge  of  corrupt  practice
envisaged  by  the  act  is  to  be  equated  with  a
criminal charge"
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45. Similar view has been reiterated by the Hon'ble Supreme Court in

the case of Abhiram Singh Vs. C.D. Commachen, reported in (2017) 2

SCC 629

46. Adverting to the facts of the petition, Rakesh Giri (DW-1) in his

evidence has deposed that he knew Bhagwandas Prajapati who was one

of the candidates in general election of the Legislative Assembly. He had

never  authorized  Bhagwandas  for  any  corrupt  practice.  Bhagwandas

himself  was  contesting  the  election  as  independent  candidate.

Bhagwandas  Prajapati  has  not  been  impleaded  as  a  party.  He  has  no

knowledge  about  Narendra  Rai.  Police  had  seized  an  amount  of

Rs.4,70,000/- from one Narendra Rai and after election same has been

returned to Narendra Rai and Bhagwandas. The evidence of Rakesh Giri

is unrebutted.

47. Bhagwandas Prajapati (DW-2) in his evidence has deposed that in

2018 Legislative Assembly Election he had contested as an independent

candidate  from 43,  Tikamgarh Legislative  Assembly.  Narendra Kumar

Rai is his friend. In the election, some money was seized from him and

Narendra Rai, but after election that money was returned to them. He has

produced Exhibit P/10 i.e. certified copy of his nomination form. In his

cross-examination he has admitted that he had secured only 382 or 384

votes in the election.

48. Narendra  Kumar  Rai  (DW-3)  has  deposed  that  Bhagwandas

Prajapati (DW-2) is his friend. He works in Marico Company which deals

in Saffola Oil. In 2018, he after collecting money of sale was returning to

his home, near Dhanushdhari Temple, Bhagwandas Prajapati met him and

when they both were going towards their home, on the way, they were

apprehended by the Flying Squad team of the Election Commission and

had seized his Alto car and Rs.4,70,000/- cash collection of his sales. He
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has deposed that he never canvassed for BJP candidate Rakesh Giri. His

seized money and vehicle were returned to him after election. Copy of the

order is Exhibit P/11. He has denied the suggestion offered by learned

counsel  for  the  petitioner  that  money  seized  was  being  taken  for

distributing the same among voters.

49. Thus,  from the evidence of Bhagwandas Prajapati  and Narendra

Kumar  Rai,  it  is  revealed  that  money  was  seized  from the  Alto  Car

belonging  to  Narendra  Kumar  Rai  and  after  completion  of  election

process  that  money along with  Alto  car  was  returned  to  them by the

competent  authority.  In  this  regard  their  evidence  finds  corroboration

from the evidence of Sushil Kumar Khare (DW-12) who has deposed that

in 2018 Legislative Election he was in charge of the Flying Squad Team.

On 25.11.2018, they had seized Rs.4,70,000/- cash from the Alto vehicle

bearing registration No.MP-36-C-3046 belonging to Narendra Kumar Rai

and  after  seizure,  vehicle  and  cash  was  handed  over  to  the  SHO,

Badagaon. It is also his evidence that along with that amount and vehicle

Tax Invoice No. 661 of Rs.17,033/-(Exhibit P/10) was also seized from

Narendra Kumar Rai. Exhibit P/11 seizure memo was prepared. Exhibit

P/12  was  also  prepared.  In  cross-examination,  he  has  admitted  that

amount which was seized from Narendra Kumar Rai was legal and tax

paid amount which was returned to him after election. On a perusal of

Exhibit D/11, order passed by a committee of three persons, it is apparent

that  amount of  Rs.4,70,000/-  and Alto car  which was seized from the

possession of Narendra Kumar Rai was returned to him by Exhibit D/11

order.

50. From the  evidence  of  Bhagwan  Das  (DW-2)  and  Exhibit  D/10

nomination form it is apparent that Bhagwan Das, S/o Shyamlal was an

independent candidate from 43, Tikamgarh Constituency Assembly. The
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amount was seized from them and later it was released in the favour of

Narendra Kumar Rai as it was found belonging to Narendra Kumar Rai as

he had collected the same from the business man to whom he had sold

Saffola  Oil.   Petitioner  has  failed  to  produce  any cogent  and  reliable

evidence to prove that Narendra Kumar Rai had distributed any cash to

Firoz Khan or anyone else at  dictate of  returned candidate respondent

No.1.  Narendra Kumar Rai  is  the friend of  Bhagwandas (DW-1)  who

himself was candidate in the election and was found travelling with him

in the Alto car. Therefore, having taken into consideration the evidence of

witness  Firoz  Khan  (PW-3),  Dhanendra  Singh  (PW-4),  Bhagwandas

Prajapati  (DW-2)  and  Narendra  Kumar  Rai  (DW-3),  document  P/11,

Exhibit  P/12,  Exhibit  D/10  and  D/11,  it  can  be  easily  inferred  that

petitioner has not been successful to prove that any cash was distributed

by  Narendra  Kumar  Rai  and  Bhagwandas  Prajapati  at  the  behest  of

respondent  No.1.  It  is  worthwhile  to  mention  that  no  suggestion  was

offered to Bhagwandas Prajpati (DW-2) and Narendra Kumar Rai (DW-

3) that they had distributed any currency note of Rs.2,000/- denomination

to Firoz Khan (PW-6) at the behest of respondent No.1.

51. As already discussed that though no issue has been framed about

organization of Bhandara, but same has been discussed considering the

averments made in para 18 of the Election Petition and same has not been

found proved.

52. The allegations of corrupt practice must be clearly pleaded in the

petition with full  particulars  and to  be  proved by cogent  and relevant

evidence. It is settled law that no evidence is admissible without pleading

in the election petition. The pleading of committing corrupt practice has

to  be  proved  by  the  petitioner  beyond  reasonable  doubt  because  the

burden of proof of a fact is always on a person who has averred about
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such facts. If the initial burden is discharged then onus is shifted to the

opposite  party  to  prove  the  contrary.  Unless  the  initial  burden  is

discharged, the shifting of onus will not arise. Further, the facts are to be

proved in a positive manner and not in a negative manner. In this case, the

petitioner has not been able to prove the averments made in this regard in

his petition. Therefore, the question of shifting onus does not arise. In this

case  petitioner  was  required  to  prove  all  the  allegations  made  in  the

petition which occurred on different dates but he failed to prove all the

allegations beyond reasonable doubt.

53. Thus, in the light of above analysis and for the foregoing reasons, I

am of the view that petitioner has not been successful to prove all the

allegations of corrupt practice and Issue No.II and VI against respondent

No.1  beyond reasonable  doubt.  Thus,  Issue  No.II  and VI  are  decided

accordingly and it is held that respondent No.1’s election is not vitiated

on the ground mentioned under Section 100(1)(b) and Section 100(1)(d)

as neither he, nor none of his electoral agents/supporters or any agent has

done  any  corrupt  practice  within  the  meaning  of  Section  123  of  the

R.P.Act of 1951.

 

ISSUE NO. 3

54. The petitioner in Para 19, 20 and 21 of the Election petition has

averred about violation of Section 56 of the Act read with Rule 15 of the

Conduct of Election Rules, 1961 and has submitted that result of election

was  materially  affected  on  account  of  closing  of  the  electoral  voting

machine of different polling booth number 43, 57, 141, 154, 165, 169 and

182 mentioned in para 19, before the prescribed time of closing of the

voting time i.e. 5:00 P.M.
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55. Ganesh  Kumar  Jaiswal  (PW10)  has  deposed  that  in  2018  M.P.

Legislative Constituency Election, he was the Returning Officer for 43,

Tikamgarh Legislative Constituency.   Counting of  the votes had taken

place  on  11.12.2018,  at  the  time  of  counting  of  the  ballots,  electoral

agents of  the Indian National  Congress had raised objection regarding

polling booth Nos. 43, 57, 141, 154, 165, 169 and 182 stating that control

unit are showing early time of the closing before the scheduled time and

in this regard, Exhibit P/7 objections were raised.  He further deposed that

Exhibit P/7 was sent to the Principal Secretary, Election Commission of

India, New Delhi and guidance was sought. He has admitted that in the

aforesaid control units, time shown was of before 5:00 PM.  He further

deposed that polling agents had put their signature on the time of closing

of  the  machines  and  had  not  made  any  complaint  about  the  time  of

closure of the voting machine.  He deposed that voting time was from

8:00 AM to 5:00 PM and voting cannot be closed before 5:00 P.M. 

56. In para 5 of his cross-examination, Ganesh Kumar Jaiswal (PW10)

has made it clear that on 23.05.2019, Election Commission of India had

issued clarification about Poll Start Time (PST) and Poll End Time (PET)

and as per this clarification Poll Start time (PST) is the time when 1st

voter cast his vote and Poll End Time (PET) is the time when last voter

cast his vote. He has made it clear that in Column 4, the time shown is the

time at which last voter had cast his/her vote and not the time of closing

of voting at Polling Booth Nos. 43, 57, 141, 154, 165, 169 and 182.  He

has  admitted  that  Exhibit  D/2  Circular  was  issued  by  the  Election

Commission  of  India  and  it  was  circulated  to  all  District  Returning

Officers by Chief  Election Officer,  Madhya Pradesh with Exhibit  D/3.

Ganesh Kumar Jaiswal (PW-10) has clearly deposed that no complaint
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was  received  from any  quarter  that  any  EVM was  closed  before  the

schedule time.

57. Learned counsel for the petitioner has contended that in view of the

admission made in  para  2  of  his  evidence  by Ganesh Kumar  Jaiswal

(PW10), issue No.3 stands proved and election of respondent No.1 can be

set aside under Section 100(i)(d) of the Act as several voters had been

restrained from exercising their right to franchise. In this regard, he has

also  referred  the  evidence  of  Kehar  Singh Lodhi  (PW7),  Rajesh  Soni

(PW8) and Dayaram Ahirwar (PW9).

58. Kehar  Singh Lodhi  (PW7) has deposed that  EVM machine was

closed by the Polling Officer at 4:30 PM. When he had asked Polling

Officer as to why he has closed EVM machine, he had replied that now

no voter is present or waiting to cast the vote, at this he had told him that

voters are standing outside booth but he was sent outside the polling both

by Polling Officer.  Same is the evidence of Rajesh Soni (PW8).

59. In his cross-examination, Kehar Singh Lodhi (PW7) has admitted

that he had no card issued by Election Commission showing  that he  ever

worked as polling agent for petitioner Yadvendra Singh. He  admitted that

he had not made any complaint about the closure of the EVM machine

before scheduled time, to Polling Officer,  Returning Officer  or  Police.

This witness Kehar Singh could not produce any card issued by Election

Commission or Returning Officer to show that he had worked as polling

agent of petitioner Yadvendra Singh at booth No.141.  Even if for the

sake of argument it is assumed that he was polling agent of petitioner at

booth no. 141, he did not made any complaint in writing either to Polling

Officer,  District  Returning  Officer  or  Police  about  closure  of  EVM

machine  before  scheduled  time.   This  witness  has  admitted  that  no

complaint  was made by him complaining that  any voter was deprived
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from exercising his right to vote. In this case petitioner has not examined

any voter to prove that he had been deprived from exercising his right to

vote or he was standing outside the Polling Booth before 5 PM and EVM

machine was closed before schedule time. Thus, the evidence of Kehar

Singh Lodhi (PW-7) an interest witness being unreliable and general in

nature does not inspire any confidence. 

60. Ravi Soni (PW-8) in cross examination has admitted that has no

card  issued by Election  Commission showing that  he  ever  worked as

polling agent of petitioner at polling booth No. 43. He has admitted that

he had put his signature after closure of EVM but had not mentioned

closure time of EV Machines. He has admitted that last voter had cast his

vote at 4:40 PM and same is recorded in machine. From the evidence of

Ravi Soni (PW-8), it is apparent that EV Machine was closed only after

voting by last voter present in the booth. Thus, from the evidence of this

witness it is apparent that E.V. Machine was closed in has presence by

pooling officer after exercise of franchise by last voter present on booth. 

61. Dayaram  Ahirwar  (PW9)  has  deposed  that  on  28.11.2018,  at

around 8:00 A.M., he had gone to cast his vote.  At that time, there was a

long cue of voters at booth due to which he did not cast his vote and went

back.  At around 4:30 P.M., when he again reached at polling booth to

cast vote, polling Officer told him that voting time is over and he cannot

cast  vote and was not permitted to cast  his vote.  He has admitted his

signature on affidavit Exhibit P/6.

62.  In cross-examination, witness Dayaram Ahirwar (PW-9) has stated

that he cannot name the advocate who had prepared his affidavit.  He

stated  that  he  was  not  permitted  to  go  inside  the  polling  booth.  He

admitted that he cannot say if the watch/clock which is kept at polling

booth was showing the time as “5:00 PM”. He has stated that he was the
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only person who had attempted to cast the vote.  He has admitted that he

had not made any complaint about his being deprived from exercising his

franchise.  He  has  stated  that  he  had  given  Exhibit  P/6  affidavit  on

16.01.2019.  He stated that  he has not  brought  his  Voter  ID card.   He

stated that he had made oral complaint to Yadvendra Singh only. He has

admitted  that  he  had  handed  over  Exhibit  P/6  affidavit  to  Yadvendra

Singh (PW-6). As far as the reliability and truthfulness of the evidence of

Dayaram Ahirwar (PW9) is concerned, same does not inspire confidence

as at no point of time he made any complaint in writing to any authority

about his deprivation from exercising his vote on the date of voting at a

particular  booth.  For  the  very  first  time,  he  gave  his  affidavit  on

16.01.2019 to petitioner with whom he has very good relations and is

well acquainted.  His evidence does not find corroboration from evidence

of any other voters of the same polling booth station.  He does not appear

to be a truthful and genuine witness. Hence, no reliance can be placed on

his evidence. It is noteworthy that no complaint was made by him about

the closing of voting machine before scheduled time.  No objections were

raised by the polling agents present in the polling booths, about the early

closure  of  electronic  voting  machines.  Therefore,  on  a  meticulous

scrutiny  of  the  evidence  of  all  three  witnesses,  it  is  concluded  that

evidence of all three witnesses is after thought and manufactured. Hence,

same does not inspire confidence.  

63. Learned counsel for the petitioner placing reliance on the case of

Ambika  Sharan  Singh  Vs.  Mahant  Mahadeva,  Giri  and  Others,

reported in (1969) 2 SCC 492 has submitted that mere not lodging of the

complaint cannot be a ground to discard the evidence of witnesses.   As

far the case of Ambika Sharan Singh (supra) is concerned, the facts of

the case are not applicable in the present case as in that case the issue of
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having filing of FIR for offence under the penal code was argued and in

that case complaint had been made in different circumstances, but in the

case in hand no complaint has been made, affidavit has been given by

Dayaram  (PW-9)  almost  after  one  month  or  more  that  too  after

declaration of the result too the petitioner who had lost the election and

was preparing evidence for election petition. Therefore, no reliance can

be placed on the evidence of Dayaram Ahirwar (PW-9). 

64. In this case, undoubtedly, Ganesh Kumar Jaiswal (PW10) in para 2

of his evidence has deposed that voting cannot be closed before 5:00 PM,

but the moot question arises “whether the time mentioned in the electric

voting machines of polling booth number 43, 57, 141, 154, 165, 169 and

182 is the closing time of voting machine or poll end time (PET).” 

65. Learned  counsel  for  respondent  No.1  has  placed  reliance  on

Exhibit D/1, D/2 and D/3.  Election Commission of India vide its letter

dated 23.05.2019 has clarified the position regarding understanding the

PST and PET displayed on the display panel of the control unit of the

EVM (Electronic Voting Machine). In this circular, it has been made clear

that  in Electronic  Voting Machine,  PST (Polling Start  Time) and PET

(Polling End Time) are displayed and that indicates the time stamp of the

first vote cast and poll end time indicates the time stamp of the last vote

cast and not the time of closing voting poll.   There are no reasons to

disbelieve the clarification given by the Election Commission of India by

Exhibit  D/2  letter.  Therefore,  it  is  apparent  that  time  shown  on  the

Electronic Voting Machine of polling booth numbers 43, 57, 141, 154,

165, 169 and 182 is poll end time (PET) which indicates the time stamp

of the last vote cast and not the time of closing of the voting machine.  

66. It is worthwhile to mention here that no objections were raised by

the petitioner’s polling agent at the time of closing of electronic voting
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machines  of  aforesaid  polling  booths  and  these  were  properly  closed

under the signatures of the voting agents of the petitioner also. Therefore,

it cannot be said that poll End Time shown on display of the control unit

of the aforesaid voting machines is the closure time of EVM machines.

In this regard, Exhibit C/3 and C/4 are the relevant documents showing

presence  and  no  objection  by  the  agents  of  the  petitioner.  Thus,  the

argument  of  learned  counsel  for  the  petitioner  that  EVMs  of  the

aforementioned polling booths were closed before the schedule time and

some of the voters were deprived from exercising their franchise being

beyond reason and logic is not tenable. 

67. Therefore, on the basis of above discussion, it is held that petitioner

has  not  been  successful  to  prove  beyond  all  reasonable  doubts  that

election of the returned candidate was materially affected due to closure

of EVM machines of some polling booths before the scheduled time of

closing.

ISSUE NO. 5     

68. In para 38 of the petition, petitioner has alleged violation of Rule

49-S and Rule 56 C (2) of the Conduct of Election Rules, 1951 and has

pleaded that Abhijeet Agrawal, District Electoral Officer cum Collector

mischievously got the EVM machine of certain polling stations  No. 41,

49 and 220 changed at the time of counting, which materially affected the

election.  This  issue  relates  to  result  of  the  election  of  a  returned

candidates materially affected on account of violation of 49-S and 56 C

(2) of the Conduct of Election Rule, 1951 and pertains to Section 100(1)

(d)(iv)  of  the  1951  Act.  Petitioner  has  filed  a  copy of  form 17 vide

Annexure   A-39, Annexure A-40 and Annexure A-41 with the election

petition.  In  para  18  of  his  examination-in-chief,  petitioner  Yadvendra
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Singh  (PW-1) has deposed that at the time of counting, EVM machine  of

polling booths No. 41, 49 and 220 were changed but in support of his

deposition, he has not exhibited the Annexure A-39, Annexure A-40 and

Annexure A-41. Petitioner has not produced any documentary evidence to

show that  before  counting  3  EVM machines  of  the  aforesaid  pooling

booths were changed by the Collector or in this regard any complaint was

made by him. The objections raised by the Pool Counting Agent of the

petitioner were duly decided. 

69. As  per  the  Annexure  A-39  which  has  not  been  proved  by  the

petitioner,  complaint  was  made  about  control  unit  BCUAD  95892

whereas  Ganesh  Kumar  Jaiswal  (PW-10)  Returning  Officer,  in  his

evidence, has clearly deposed that at booth number 41, numbers of the

control unit was BCUAD 35892 and its voter unit was  BBUAD 61717

and BBUAC 09350 and its identification number was BVTEP 07461 and

same is exhibit  C-4. In this regard the evidence of the Ganesh Kumar

Jaiswal (PW-10) is unrebutted  and in his cross he has made  it clear that

Ex. PR/1/9 filed by respondent No. 1 and Ex. C-4 are one and same.

Thus, it is apparent that in Annexure A-39, petitioner has mischievously

given the wrong number of the EVM machine. In this regard, no other

oral  or  documentary  evidence  has  been  produced by the  petitioner  to

prove  the  allegation  leveled  by  him.  Thus,  it  is  held  that  petitioner’s

documents Annexure A-39 annexed with the election petition is false and

fabricated  and  in  it  actual  number  of  the  control  unit  has  been

manipulated.

70. Thus, on the basis of above analysis and  for the reason mentioned

herein above, it is held that petitioner has not been successful to prove

that EVM  of booth numbers 41, 49 and 220 were changed  at the time of
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counting which materially affected the election. As such issue No. 5 is

decided accordingly.

ISSUE NO. 4 

71. Petitioner, in para No. 32 to 37, has averred that against respondent

No. 1 as many as  four criminal cases were pending at the time of filing

of nomination form. However, he has not taken pain to disclose the facts

of  all  the  criminal  cases  pending  against  him  by  getting  the  same

published in the newspaper as mandated by law. Thus, he  deliberately

concealed his criminal record by non-disclosing the criminal cases in the

election  form and failed  to  publish  the same  mandated  by law.  Non

disclosure of  criminal  case is  suppression of  material  facts  and defect

substantial character and amounts to suppression of material facts from

the voters.  Learned counsel  appearing  for the petitioner has submitted

that returning candidate/respondent No. 1 was required  to prove  that he

had  published  his  criminal  antecedent  in  three  widely  circulated

newspapers  as  per  circular  dated  10.10.2018  (Annexure  A-37)  of  the

Election  Commission  of  India but  he  has  not  proved  the  same.

Publication, in three newspapers,  was   within the special knowledge of

the  respondent  No.1.  Learned  counsel  has  placed  reliance  on  the

judgment of  Sushil Kumar Vs. Rakesh Kumar, (2003) 8 SCC 673, the

Hon’ble Supreme Court held as under:-

:31. Furthermore, in relation to certain matters, the
fact  being  within  the  special  knowledge  of  the
respondent,  the  burden  to  prove  the  same  would
be on him in  terms  of   Section  106   of  the   Indian
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Evidence Act.  However,  the question as  to  whether
the  burden  to  prove  a  particular  matter  is  on  the
plaintiff  or  the  defendant  would  depend  upon  the
nature  of  the  dispute.  [See  Orissa  Mining
Corporation  and  another  vs.  Ananda  Chandra
Prusty, [(1996) 11 SCC 600 : 1197 SCC (L&S) 408:
AIR 1997 SC 2274].

32. The age of a person, in an election petition has to
be determined not only on the basis of the materials
placed  on  records  but  also  upon  taking  into
consideration  the  circumstances  attending  thereto.
The initial burden to prove the allegations made in
the election petition although was upon the election
petitioner but for proving the facts which were within
the special knowledge of the respondent, the burden
was  upon  him  in  terms  of  Section  106  of  the
Evidence Act. It is also trite that when both parties
have adduced evidence, the question of onus of proof
becomes academic [See Union of India  vs. Sugauli
Sugar Works (P) Ltd.,  (1976) 3 SCC 32,(SCC Para
14) and  Cox and Kings (Agents) Ltd. vs. Workmen
[(1977) 2 SCC 705 :  1977 SCC (L &S) 342 :  AIR
1977  SC  1666]  (AIR  para  36)].  Furthermore,  an
admission on the part of a party to the lis shall be
binding on him and in any event a presumption must
be made that the same is taken to be established.” 

72. It is further argument of the learned counsel for the petitioner that

publication  of  criminal  antecedents  in  Lokdesh  newspaper  is  not

sufficient  compliance  of  the  circular  dated  10.10.2018  issued  by  the

Election Commission as same is not a widely circulated newspaper in

Teekamgarh. It is further urged that instead of three publications only one

publication dated 19.11.2018 was made.  Therefore, compliance was not

properly made. Hence, election of the petitioner is liable to be quashed

under  Section  100(1)(d)(4)  of  the  1951  Act.  Learned  counsel  for  the

petitioner  has  placed  reliance  on the  case  of  Union  of  India  Vs.
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Association for democratic Reforms and another, with People’s Union

for Civil Liberties and another Vs. Union of India and Another (2002)

5 SCC 294.  He has also placed reliance  on  the case of  Brajesh Singh

Vs.  Sunil  Arora and others,  (2021) 10 SCC 241  and Public  Interest

Foundation and Others Vs. Union of India and another, (2019) 3 SCC

224. Learned counsel for the respondent has contended that as per the

mandate in the case of  Union of India Vs. Association for democratic

Reforms  (Supra),  candidate  is  required  to  file  affidavit  in  form  26

mentioning inter alia pending criminal cases which is required to disclose

in the election form and parties Website. 

73. As  per  the  circular  No.  3/4/2017/SDR/Vol.II  dated  10.10.2018,

directions  were  issued  that  candidates  at  elections  to  the  house  of

parliament  and Houses  of  State  Legislatures  who have criminal  cases

against them, either pending cases or cases of conviction in the past, and

to  the  political  parties  that  set  up  such  candidates  shall  publish  a

declaration about such cases, or wide publicity, in newspapers with wide

circulation  in  the  constituency  area.  It  was  further  directed that  this

declaration to be published in Format C-1 attached with the circular at

least  on three  different  dates  from the day following the last  date  for

withdrawal of candidatures and upto two days before the date of poll. The

matter should be published in font size of at least 12 and should be placed

suitably in the newspapers so that the directions for wide publicity are

complied  with  in  letter  and  spirit.  It  was  further  mandated  that

declaration of such criminal cases be also declared on T.V.  channels on

three different dates  during the above mentioned period. But, in the case

of the declaration in TV channels, the same should be completed  before

the period of 48 hours ending with the hour fixed for conclusion of poll.
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74. In para 3 (c) of the circular, it was made clear that candidates who

have criminal cases as per the declarations, the Returning Officer shall

give  a  written  reminder  about  the  directions  herein  for  publishing

declaration about the criminal cases in newspapers and TV channels for

wide publicity. A standard format was also given. It was also directed that

candidates with criminal cases set up by political parties are required to

declare before the Returning Officer concerned that they have informed

their political party about the criminal cases against them and declaration

has  to  be  made  in  Form-26  in  item (6A).  Political  parties  were  also

required  to  publish  declaration  giving  details  in  this  regard  on  their

website  as  well  as  in  TV  channels  and  newspapers  having  wide

circulation in the State concerned. 

75. The  question  which  arises  for  the  consideration  is  whether  the

returned candidate had made compliance of the direction given in circular

dated 10.10.2018? 

76. It  is  settled  position  of  law  that  no  proof  can  be  seen  without

pleading.  This  issue was earlier  raised by the petitioner and same has

been decided vide order  dated 13.01.2023.  The para 7 of  the order  is

reproduced as under:-

“On a perusal of the pleadings contained in para 33
to 37 of the election petition, it is pleaded that  four
criminal cases were pending against the respondent
No. 1 at the time of filing of the nomination form but
he did not  take pain to  disclose  the fact  of  all  the
cases by getting the same published  in newspaper as
mandated  by  law.  As  per  the  pleadings  of  the
petitioner, the petitioner had not published the fact of
all  the  criminal  cases  pending  against  him  in  the
newspaper as mandated by law. It is not the case of
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the petitioner that it  was not  published in a widely
circulated newspaper.” 

77. Petitioner Yadvendra Singh (PW-1), in para 14 of his evidence, has

deposed that  Lokdesh Newspaper  has  no circulation  in  Tikamgarh.  In

election petition, petitioner has nowhere pleaded that Lokdesh newspaper

has  no  circulation  in   Tikamgarh.  As  per  the  averments  in  petition,

respondent No. 1 had not published his criminal antecedent in newspaper.

78. Rakesh  Giri  (DW-1),  in  his  evidence,  has  deposed  that  in  his

nomination form Ex. D-4, he has given detailed information about the

cases pending against him at the time of filing of nomination form. One

criminal case and three other cases related  to  illegal  colonization were

registered against him. He had furnished full details of such cases in his

Ex. D-4 nomination form. He further deposed that he had got published

the record of all criminal cases in “Lokdesh Newspaper” and  telecast  of

such cases was also made in “Sadhana News Channel”. He had published

his criminal cases in print media and electronic media both. The record of

above  criminal  cases  was also  published  on  official  website  of  the

Bharatiya Janata Party because he had emailed that information  from his

mobile  phone  sim  number  9111879789  on  the  official  website  of  the

Bharatiya Janata Party and same is Ex. D-5. He has filed Ex. D-6, Ex. D-

7  and  Ex.  D-8  of  the  Lokdesh  newspaper.  He  further  deposed  that

Returning Officer had also displayed the record of his criminal cases on

its official  notice  board.  He  had  not  concealed  any  information.  He

further  stated that  Returning  Officer  had  not  given  him  any  notice

regarding concealment of information relating to criminal cases. In this

regard,  he had  produced Ex.  D-9 information  obtained from  office  of

Returning Officer. In para 19 of his cross examination, he has admitted

that  information  regarding  criminal  cases  pending  against  him  was
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published in Lokdesh newspaper only as Lokdesh newspaper had a wide

circulation in Tikamgarh. He has denied the suggestion offered by the

learned  counsel  for  the  petitioner  that  Lokdesh  newspaper  had no

circulation  in Tikamgarh.

79. On a perusal of Ex. D-4, it is apparent that in nomination form at

form No. 26, respondent No.1 has given declaration of the criminal cases

pending  against  him.   Ex.  D-5  shows  that  details  of criminal  cases

pending against him were sent by respondent No.1 to his  political  party

through  E-mail. On a perusal of Ex. D-6, Ex. D-7 and Ex. D-8, Lokdesh

newspaper dated 19.11.2018, 21.11.2018 and 23.11.2018, it is apparent

that  respondent  No.1  had got  published information of  criminal  cases

pending against him in the aforesaid newspaper on the date mentioned

therein.  The  aforesaid  evidence  of  Rakesh  Giri  (DW-1)  finds

corroboration from  the  evidence of Tejbhan Pal (PW-13) Editor of the

Lokdesh newspaper. 

80. Tejbhan Pal (PW-13), in his evidence, has deposed that he is the

Editor of  Lokdesh newspaper. This newspaper is being published from

Bhopal  since 2016. The editions of  this  newspaper are  also  published

from Raipur and Gwalior. The newspaper  has its circulation at  Bhopal

and eight other places and is  sent through road. He deposed that he has

brought a copy of  Lokdesh newspaper dated 19.11.2018 and at its page

No. 7 form C-2 is published and in form C-2, information of the criminal

cases  of  Rakesh  Giri,  B.J.P.  candidate  from 43, Tikamgarh  has  been

published. Newspaper is Ex. P-13. He has specifically stated  that in the

year 2018,  Lokdesh newspaper was having  its  circulation in Tikamgarh

but  after  outbreak  of  Corona  pandemic   from  24.03.2020 onward,

newspaper is not being circulated in Tikamgarh. In cross examination,
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Editor Tejbhan Pal (PW-13) made it clear that information at form C-2

regarding  criminal  cases  of  Rakesh  Giri  has  been  published  at page

number  7  of  Ex.  P-13  which  relates  to  the  information  regarding

Tikamgarh, Sagar, Damoh and Chhatarpur District. He further admitted

that aforesaid information of criminal cases of Rakesh Giri was published

at  page  number  7  as  that  particular  page  publishes   the  information

regarding Tikamgarh District only. 

81. Thus, from the evidence of Rakesh Giri (DW-1) it is evident that he

had got  all  the  information  regarding  criminal  cases  against  him

published in Lokdesh newspaper and same is fortified by the evidence of

petitioner’s witness Tejbhan Pal  (PW-13). 

82. As per  Ex.  D-9  issued by  the  office  of  Sub  Divisional  Officer

(Revenue Tikamgarh), it  is apparent  that no notice of  format 3-C was

given to the respondent No.1  by Returning Officer. Thus, from  Ex. D-6,

Ex. D-7 and Ex. D-8, it is  found duly proved that respondent No.1 had

published  all  details  in  newspaper  about  the  criminal  cases  pending

against  him.  He  has  also  declared  the  same  in  his  nomination  form.

Therefore, the allegations made in paras No. 32  to 37 of the petition  that

respondent No.1 had not disclosed the pendency of four criminal cases

against him in nomination form is not correct and such  averments have

been made without any basis. 

83. It  is  further contention of learned counsel  for  the petitioner that

Lokdesh  newspaper  is  not  a  widely  circulated  newspaper  as  per  the

mandate  of   circular  dated 10.10.2018 of  the Election Commission of

India.  Therefore,  publication  of  same  would  be  considered  as  non

compliance of the aforesaid circular  as the publication of  the criminal
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cases in less circulated newspapers materially affect result of the election

which makes respondent No. 1 result liable to be declared invalid.

84. Except petitioner Yadvendra Singh  (PW-1),  no witness deposed

that  Lokdesh  newspaper  is  not  a  widely  circulated  newspaper  in

Tikamgarh.  The evidence of the Yadvendra Singh (PW-1) in this regard

does not find corroboration from the evidence of any other witness. On

the contrary from the evidence of Rakesh Giri (DW-1) and Tejbhan Pal

(PW-13), it  is  apparent that before 24.03.2020 i.e.  outbreak of Corona

pandemic,  Lokdesh  newspaper  was  being  regularly  circulated  in

Tikamgarh and in it information regarding criminal cases pending against

Rakesh Giri  (DW-1)  was published.  Petitioner  has  not  produced  local

witnesses of Tikamgarh to prove  that Lokdesh newspaper at the time of

2018  Legislative  Assembly  Election  was not  a  widely  circulated

newspaper  in  the Tikamgarh.  Three  consecutive  information regarding

criminal cases have been  duly  published in the newspaper  for a  period

from 14.11.2018 to 28.11.2018 against respondent No. 1. Hence, it cannot

be said that  Lokdesh newspaper was not having a wide circulation in the

Tikamgarh at the time of  Madhya Pradesh Legislative Assembly Election

of  2018.  It  also  cannot  be  ignored  that  initial  burden to prove  the

allegations made in the election petition was upon the  petitioner but he

has not  been  successful  to  prove  his  initial  burden  by  not  adducing

cogent,  legal  and  reliable  evidence  on  the  point  as  he  has  made  no

pleading  about  the  publication  of  the  criminal  cases  in  less  widely

circulated newspaper. It has also not been proved by the petitioner that

due to publication of the said criminal cases in less circulated newspaper,

the election was materially  affected. In the case of Mangani Lal Mandal

Vs. Bishnu Deo Bhandari, (2012) 3 SCC 314, the Hon’ble Suprem Court

has held  as under:-



    49   

“11.  A  mere  non-compliance  or  breach  of  the
Constitution  or  the  statutory  provisions  noticed
above,  by  itself,  does  not  result  in  invalidating the
election of a returned candidate under Section 100(1)
(d)(iv). The sine qua non for declaring election of a
returned candidate to be void on the ground under
clause (iv) of Section 100(1)(d) is further proof of the
fact that such breach or non-observance has resulted
in  materially  affecting  the  result  of  the  returned
candidate. In other words, the violation or breach or
non-observation  or  non-compliance  with  the
provisions of the Constitution or the 1951 Act or the
rules or the orders made thereunder, by itself, does
not render the election of a returned candidate void
Section  100(1)(d)(iv).  For  the  election  petitioner  to
succeed on such ground viz., Section 100(1)(d)(iv), he
has not only to plead and prove the ground but also
that the result of the election insofar as it concerned
the returned candidate has been materially affected.
The view that we have taken finds support from the
three decisions of this Court in (1) Jabar Singh Vs.
Genda Lal, AIR 1964 SC 1200: (1964) 6 SCR 54); (2)
L.R.  Shivaramagowda  Vs.  T.M.  Chandrashekhar
[(1999)  1  SCC  666]   (3)  Uma  Ballav  Rath   Vs.

Maheshwar Mohanty ((1999)3 SCC 357).

85. In the aforesaid facts and circumstances of the case, I am of the

view that petitioner has not been successful to prove that respondent No.

1/returned candidate had deliberately concealed his criminal  record by

non  disclosing  criminal  cases  in  the  election  form and  also  failed  to

publish the same  in news paper  mandated by law. Thus, issue No. 4 is

decided accordingly.

ISSUE NO.7

86. For the foregoing detailed discussion in this order applying the test

laid down by the Hon’ble Supreme Court in catena of decisions touching
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issues involved in the instant case and in view of the findings (supra)

recorded by this Court with regard to issue No.1, 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6, this

Court  is  of  the  view  that  the  instant  election  petition  filed  by  the

petitioner is with vague or reckless allegations of corrupt practice without

foundation  and  sought  to  be  proved  by  evasive,  inaccurate  and

inadmissible evidence.  Thus, it is clear that the petitioner has not been

able to prove his case, therefore, this election petition being devoid of

merits deserves to be dismissed.

87. Accordingly, this petition is hereby dismissed.  The parties to bear

their own costs.  

88. The  Registry  is  directed  to  send  an  authenticated  copy  of  this

judgment  to  the  Election  Commission  of  India  and  the  Speaker  of

Madhya  Pradesh  Legislative  Assembly  under  Section  103  of  the

Representation of People Act, 1951 at the earliest. 

89. Certified copy as per rules. 

                                           (DINESH KUMAR PALIWAL)
                             JUDGE

MKL/L.R.
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